1988

# Village Inn Apartments and Village Partners-Cedar City v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Statement of Jurisdiction and Nature  
of the Proceedings Below

The Court Of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(j), U.C.A. This appeal was "poured over" to the Court Of Appeals from the Utah Supreme Court by notice of November 3, 1988.

In the proceedings below, the parties cross-moved for summary judgment on the issue of whether an "earth movement" exclusion in the subject insurance policy excluded plaintiff's property loss. The Lower Court found that that the exclusion did apply, as a matter of law, thus granting defendant's motion and denying plaintiff's motion.

Statement of Issue Presented For Review

The issue presented for review is an issue of law. The parties agreed on the relevant facts. The issue is whether, as a matter of law, the "earth movement" exclusion in the defendant's insurance policy applies to the property loss sustained by plaintiff.

It is respectfully submitted that this is an issue of first impression in this jurisdiction.

Constitutional and Statutory Provisions

The issue of law presented herein is determined by case law, rather than statutory or constitutional law.

### Statement of the Case

Pursuant to Rule 24(a)(7) of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals, plaintiff states the case as follows:

(i) Nature of the Case - This is an insurance coverage case. This is a first-party action (i.e. insured against carrier) to determine whether there is coverage for plaintiff's loss. The loss at issue is a property loss, i.e. structural damage to plaintiff's building.

(ii) Course of Proceedings - This action seeking determination of insurance coverage was filed in February 1987. Defendant answered by claiming, inter alia, that its insurance policy had an "earth movement" clause which excluded coverage for plaintiffs loss. After discovery, the parties cross-moved for summary judgment on the issue of whether that "earth movement" exclusion applied to plaintiff's loss.

(iii) Disposition in the Court Below - The Lower Court granted the defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment, and denied plaintiff's Cross-Motion For Summary Judgment. In other words, the Lower Court found that the "earth movement" exclusion did exclude coverage for plaintiff's loss, as a matter of law. This appeal followed.

If the Lower Court's Judgment were to be reversed, defendant has a remaining defense to coverage that would



necessitate trial. In this regard, plaintiff's Motion For Summary Judgment below properly should have been designated a Motion For Partial Summary Judgment.

(iv) Statement of Relevant Facts - The relevant facts were not contested, and were set forth in defendant's Memorandum In Support Of Summary Judgment (R. 68) and plaintiff's Memorandum In Support Of Cross-Motion For Summary Judgment (R. 145). A concise summary of the relevant facts follows:

Plaintiff owns and operates the Village Inn Apartments in Cedar City, Utah (R. 147). In 1986, plaintiff was insured with defendant State Farm under an Apartment Policy (hereafter "the policy," R. 81, relevant sections in Addendum hereto). The policy generally provided plaintiff with property and liability coverage (R. 69). The loss here was a property loss.

On or before February 24, 1986, an underground water pipe ruptured on the premises of plaintiff's Village Inn Apartments (R. 68). The escaping water saturated the soil beneath, causing the soil to lose its weight-bearing ability. The foundation settled almost 8 inches (R. 69). Estimated costs of repair: \$70,000 (R. 147).

After the loss, Plaintiff submitted a claim to its insurance carrier (defendant State Farm). Defendant

investigated the claim, and ultimately denied same on the ground, inter alia, of an "earth movement" exclusion in the policy. After the claim was denied, plaintiff brought this action seeking a determination of coverage.

#### Summary of Arguments

Plaintiff argues that the Lower Court made an error of law when it determined that the earth movement clause excluded coverage for plaintiff's loss as a matter of law. Plaintiff argues that the earth movement clause is inapplicable to this loss, as a matter of law. There are three grounds for plaintiff's argument.

First, the earth movement clause does not apply because no earth movement occurred here. In the policy, the undefined phrase "earth movement" is followed by a string of natural phenomenon and acts of God (e.g. earthquake, volcano, landslide). Under the doctrine of ejusdem generis, the phrase "earth movement" should be construed to mean natural forces such as those mentioned, not "man-made" losses such as a pipe break.

Second, the phrase "earth movement" can be construed as ambiguous, because it is undefined and reasonably susceptible of different meanings. That ambiguity is strictly construed against the carrier and in favor of coverage.

Third, to construe the earth movement exclusion as applicable to this foundation-settling loss renders the policy duplicative.

#### Argument

The defendant carrier has denied this claim on the basis of an earth movement exclusion in the policy. However, the policy does not define the phrase "earth movement". Therefore, the Court must construe that phrase. Plaintiff submits that the phrase could be construed in either of two ways: under the doctrine of ejusdem generis, or as ambiguous. Under either construction, the result is the same: the phrase "earth movement" is deemed to apply only to natural forces and natural phenomenon. The majority of jurisdictions to construe such exclusionary language have so ruled.

Before addressing the proper construction of the phrase "earth movement", the burden of proof in the Lower Court and the standard of review on this appeal will be set forth.

When an insurer denies a loss based upon an exclusion in its policy, the insurer has the burden of proving by the weight of the evidence that the loss falls within that cited exclusion. Whitlock v. Old American Insurance Company 442 P.2d 26, 21 Utah 2d 131 (Utah 1968). The Lower Court determined summarily that the defendant carried its burden of proving that

this loss fell within the earth movement exclusion. On appeal, this Court should not accord any particular deference to the Lower Court's decision on this legal issue. Since the Summary Judgment was granted as a matter of law rather than fact, this Court is free to reappraise the Trial Court's legal conclusions. Barber v. Farmers Insurance Exchange 751 P.2d 248 (Utah App. 1988).

I.

IF THE PHRASE "EARTH MOVEMENT" IS CONSTRUED  
UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF EJUSDEM GENERIS, THE  
EXCLUSION DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS LOSS AS A  
MATTER OF LAW.

The defendant carrier relied upon the "earth movement" exclusion in the policy to deny coverage. That earth movement clause appears as ¶ 3.b in the policy and excludes property loss . . .

"caused by, resulting from, contributed to, or aggravated by any of the following: (1) earth movement, whether combined with water, including but not limited to earthquake, volcanic eruption, landslide, subsidence, mudflow, sinkhole, erosion, or the sinking, arising, shifting, expanding or contracting of earth." (¶ 3.b. of Policy, see p. 1)

Because the phrase "earth movement" is undefined, the Court must construe the scope of that language. Other Courts faced with similar, undefined "earth movement" clauses have applied the doctrine of ejusdem generis to hold that the phrase only applies to natural or geologic phenomenon.

In the exclusion, the phrase "earth movement" is an undefined general phrase grouped together with more specific terms. Where general language is used together with specific words, the familiar rule of construction known as ejusdem generis ("of the same kind") requires that the general words be restricted to a sense analogous to the specific words. Fields v. Mtn. States Tel. and Tel., 754 P.2d 677 (Utah App. 1988), Matter of Disconnection of Certain Territory 668 P.2d 544 (Utah 1983).

This rule of construction, ejusdem generis, mandates that the general term "earth movement" be restricted to the specific surrounding terms (such as earthquake, volcano, landslide, mudflow, rising and shifting of earth) which contemplate natural or geologic forces. Each of the recent cases cited hereafter is a first-party action for property coverage in which the Court, as a matter of law, construed the phrase "earth movement" to apply only to natural forces or natural phenomenon.

In United Nuclear Corp. v. Allendale Mut. Ins. Co. 709 P.2d 649 (N.M. 1985) an earthen dam failed. The carrier denied coverage on the grounds, inter alia, of the earth movement exclusion. The trial court construed the exclusion to apply to "other naturally occurring phenomenon" in addition to the

"flood, earthquake, landslide [and] subsidence" cited in the exclusion. That construction was affirmed by the New Mexico Supreme Court:

"In construing the term 'earth movement' to cover only naturally occurring phenomenon, the trial court applied the doctrine of ejusdem generis. Numerous other cases have applied the doctrine to the term 'earth movement' [citations omitted] . . . Therefore, we determine that the trial court did not err in applying the doctrine of ejusdem generis to the term 'earth movement' and thereby finding that the exclusion in the Allendale insurance policy did not apply to the tailings dam spill . . ." Id. at 652-3.

In Holy Angels Academy v. Hartford Ins. Co., 487 NYS.2d 1005 (N.Y. 1985), a foundation settled due to nearby construction work. The carrier denied coverage on the basis of the earth movement exclusion. The parties cross-moved for summary judgment on the issue of coverage. The court granted summary judgment for the insured, applying the doctrine of ejusdem generis to construe the "earth movement" phrase as restricted to natural phenomenon:

" . . .these words must be read in context with those that surround them (ejusdem generis) and, therefore, are limited in application to natural phenomena . . ." Id. at 1007.

In Henning Nelson Const. Co. v. Firemen's Fund, 383 N.W.2d 645 (Minn. 1986) a foundation wall collapsed. The

carrier denied coverage on the grounds, inter alia, of the earth movement exclusion. The lower court held the exclusion inapplicable, construing the exclusion as relating only to earth movement caused by widespread natural disaster. The Minnesota Supreme Court affirmed:

"The phrase 'any other earth movement' must be construed within the context of the exclusion as a whole and cannot be artificially separated from the other language [citation omitted]. Taken in this manner, the earth movement exclusion must be construed to apply to earth movements caused by widespread natural disasters and not to those caused by human forces." Id. at 653.

In Peters TP. School Dist. v. Hartford Indemnity Co. 833 F.2d 32 (Third Cir. 1987), a school sank after a mine subsided. The carrier denied coverage under the earth movement exclusion. The District Court construed the earth movement clause to exclude property damage from natural causes such as earthquake, landslides, and mudflows. In upholding this construction, the Third Circuit Court traced the historical basis for construing earth movement exclusions to apply only to natural phenomenon:

"We begin our review by noting that earth movement exclusions in an insurance policy generally refer to and have historically related to catastrophic and extraordinary calamity such as earthquakes and landslides . . . We conclude, as did the District Court . . . that the earth movement exclusion in the policy was meant to deny coverage for

spontaneous, natural, catastrophic earth movement, and not movements brought about by other causes." Id. at 35-6.

The Third Circuit Court in Peters found, as a matter of law, that the carrier had failed to carry its burden of proving that the loss fell within the earth movement exclusion. Partial summary judgment was granted the insured on the earth movement exclusion.

Thus, numerous jurisdictions have recently construed the language "earth movement" under the doctrine of ejusdem generis to apply only to losses by natural forces and natural phenomenon. Ejusdem generis is a familiar rule of construction in Utah as well, and "requires that the general words be restricted to a sense analogous to the specific words". Matter of Disconnection, supra, at 548. Therefore, the earth movement exclusion should be construed to apply only to natural forces, not "man-made" events such as a broken pipe.

## II.

IF THE PHRASE "EARTH MOVEMENT" IS CONSTRUED  
AS AMBIGUOUS, THE EXCLUSION DOES NOT APPLY  
TO THIS LOSS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In construing the undefined "earth movement" language, there is an alternative to the doctrine of ejusdem generis. This Court could also construe the undefined phrase as ambiguous.



In Utah, exclusionary language in an insurance policy is ambiguous if the language can be reasonably understood by the insured in a different manner than the carrier. In Fuller v. Director of Finance, 694 P.2d 1045 (Utah 1985) the issue was whether a policy insuring an employer against "damages" covered liability for out-of-state worker's compensation. In finding coverage, the Court observed that:

"At best, the meaning of the term as used in the employer's [insurance policy] is ambiguous. Plaintiff could have reasonably understood these provisions to cover his out-of-state worker's compensation liability . . . Therefore, facially, these provision afford coverage . . ." Id. at 1048.

Thus, under Fuller the critical question is whether an insured could have reasonably understood the policy language in a certain way. If so, coverage exists, because "An insured is entitled to the broadest protection he could have reasonably understood to be provided by the policy." Fuller, supra, at 1047.

The rule of Fuller was recently applied by this Court in Metropolitan Property and Liability Ins. Co. v. Finlayson 751 P.2d 254 (Utah App. 1988). Metropolitan Property was a declaratory judgment action to determine whether an insurance policy exclusion applied to the insured's loss. Specifically,

the carrier relied on a clause excluding coverage for "non-owned automobiles" available for "regular use". The lower court granted summary judgment to the carrier, finding that the clause excluded coverage for plaintiff's loss as a matter of law. On appeal, the insured argued that the undefined phrase "regular use" was ambiguous. This Court agreed:

"As previously stated, if the words used to express the meaning and intention of the parties may be understood to reach two or more plausible meanings, the language is ambiguous. We find either construction presented by the parties plausible. Each interpretation has some support in the case law and in ordinary usage". Metropolitan Property, supra, at 258.

Accordingly, the Metropolitan Property Court held that the ambiguous phrase must be construed in favor of coverage, and reversed the summary judgment of the lower court.

Defendant herein construes the phrase "earth movement" to mean any physical displacement of soil. Plaintiff herein construes the phrase "earth movement" to mean movement caused by natural forces or acts of God. The issue is whether plaintiff's construction is plausible. That issue is to be decided by reference to "ordinary usage" and case law. Metropolitan Property, supra, at 258.

With regard to "ordinary usage", a reasonable layman reading the language of this earth movement exclusion could

plausibly understand the clause to exclude coverage for natural forces and acts of God. The phrase "earth movement" itself is immediately followed by phrases denoting natural forces and natural disasters. Furthermore, to determine ordinary usage this Court can look to Webster's Dictionary, as it did in Metropolitan Property, supra. According to Webster, the ordinary meaning of "earth movement" is a geologic or natural force:

"Earth Movement - Geol. differential movement of the earth's crust; elevation or subsidence of the land, diastrophism; faulting; folding . . ." Webster's New Int'l Dictionary, 2nd Ed. p. 809.

In addition to ordinary usage, this Court can look to case law of sister jurisdictions in determining whether insurance policy language is ambiguous. See Metropolitan Property, supra, at 257-8; Fire Ins. Exchange v. Alsop 709 P.2d 389 (Utah 1985). Sister jurisdictions have found the phrase "earth movement" ambiguous because laymen could plausibly conclude that it referred to natural forces and natural disasters.

This precise issue was decided in 1985 by the Court in Holy Angels Academy, supra:

"Upon review, this Court finds that it is not unreasonable for an ordinary individual reading the policy language:  
'Earth movement, including but not limited to earthquake, landslide,

mudflow, earth sinking, earth rising or shifting'  
to conclude that this exclusion was designed and intended to remove from coverage, property damage occurring from such natural causes as earthquakes, landslides and mudflows . . . the policy holder is merely limiting the exclusionary clauses to those same general kind and class of perils as enumerated in companion language. In so holding we note, therefore, that [the carrier] has not established that its interpretation is the only one that can be fairly applied to the policy language, and, accordingly, we must resolve the ambiguity in favor of the insured." Id. at 1007

In so holding, the Holy Angels Court noted that similar exclusionary language had been the subject of judicial interpretation in several jurisdictions, with only one Court finding the language unambiguous.

Thus, ordinary usage and case law from sister jurisdictions demonstrate that a layman could plausibly understand the language "earth movement" to refer to natural and geologic forces. The defendant insurance company has a different understanding of the language. This renders the term ambiguous, and that ambiguity is resolved against the carrier and in favor of coverage. Metropolitan Property, supra, at 258; Fuller, supra, at 1046.

### III.

DEFENDANT'S CONSTRUCTION OF  
THE PHRASE "EARTH MOVEMENT"  
RENDERS THE POLICY DUPLICATIVE.

Defendant urges that the phrase "earth movement" should be construed to apply to a foundation-settling loss such as occurred here. However, defendant's policy has an entirely separate exclusion for foundation-settling. See Exclusion 1.e. of the policy (Addendum, p. 2). If State Farm believed the earth movement exclusion applied to foundation-settling losses, it was superfluous to provide a separate exclusion for foundation-settling.

A similar situation arose in Jones v. Saint Paul Ins. Co., 725 S.W.2d 291 (Texas App. 1987). In Jones, a foundation settled as earth dried, causing a wall to collapse. The carrier denied coverage on the basis of the earth movement exclusion and a foundation-settling exclusion. The Jones Court held the earth movement exclusion inapplicable as a matter of law, for two reasons. First, earth movement "contemplated abnormally large movements such as the examples listed." Second, it would be incongruous to construe the earth movement exclusion to cover foundation-settling when the policy had a separate exclusion for foundation-settling:

"A contract must be construed to give effect to all its provisions, if possible, and a construction will not be placed on one provision if it causes another to be meaningless [citations omitted]. Another exclusion pled by [the carrier] was settling, cracking, or other defect of foundations. This 'settling' exclusion

would be rendered meaningless by adopting the construction of 'earth movement' urged by [the carrier]." Id. at 297

Conclusion

Plaintiff asks this Court to reverse the Lower Court and hold that the policy's earth movement exclusion does not apply to plaintiff's loss, as a matter of law. The result is the same whether the undefined phrase "earth movement" is construed under the doctrine of ejusdem generis, or as ambiguous.