1988

# Village Inn Apartments and Village Partners-Cedar City v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) and Rule 4A of the Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

### NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is a lawsuit for declaratory relief, breach of contract, and bad faith. The lower court granted defendant's motion for summary judgment, ruling that plaintiffs' loss was excluded by the earth movement provision of defendant's policy. (At the hearing, plaintiffs stipulated that their claim for bad faith could be dismissed with prejudice (R. 200).)

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Defendant accepts plaintiffs' statement of the issue.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant accepts plaintiffs' statement of the case.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Plaintiffs argue that the earth movement exclusion is limited to acts of God or natural phenomena. However, State

Farm's policy plainly states that earth movement is excluded regardless of its cause. In other words, earth movement need not be caused by an act of God in order to be excluded. The policy states:

The Company does not insure for loss which would not have occurred in the absence of one or more of the following excluded events. The Company does not insure for such loss regardless of: a) the cause of the excluded event . . .

. . . . .

- (1) earth movement, whether combined with water or not . . .

See page 6 of the policy, a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum. State Farm inserted this language into its policies in 1983 in order to make certain that excluded events such as earth movement would not result in coverage even if the loss was attributable to human activity. Every court that has had occasion to consider this new policy language since then has found it to be valid and enforceable. Earth movement is excluded regardless of its cause.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I.

Earth movement is excluded regardless of its cause.

Plaintiffs have failed to quote the critical policy language in their brief. This language is known as the "lead-in" clause to the earth movement exclusion. The clause reads as follows:

The Company does not insure for loss which would not have occurred in the absence of one or more of the following excluded events. The Company does not insure for such loss regardless of: a) the cause of the excluded event; or b) other causes of the loss; or c) whether other causes acted concurrently or in any sequence with the excluded event to the produce the loss:

. . . .

(1) earth movement . . .

See page 6 of the policy, a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum.

As the lead-in clause plainly states, earth movement is excluded regardless of its cause. Earth movement need not be caused by an act of God, as plaintiffs argue, in order to be excluded. The lead-in clause states: "The Company does not insure for such loss regardless of: a) the cause of the excluded event [earth movement] . . . " Therefore, plaintiffs' argument that earth movement needs to be caused by a natural phenomenon or an act of God simply does not have any merit.

The lead-in clause was inserted in State Farm's policies in 1983 principally to avoid the type of construction which

plaintiffs urge upon this court. As discussed more fully in Gordon and Crowley, Earth Movement and Water Damage Exposure: A Landslide in Coverage, 50 Ins. Counsel J. 418 (1983), a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum, courts have used either the efficient cause analysis or the ejusdem generis analysis in order to find coverage for the insured in the face of the "most carefully wrought [earth movement] exclusions." Id. at 418. According to the efficient cause analysis, first enunciated by the California Supreme Court in Sabella v. Wisler, 59 Cal. 2d 21, 27 Cal. Rptr. 689, 377 P.2d 889 (1963), if a covered peril sets in motion a chain of events in which the last step may be an excluded peril, the excluded peril will not defeat coverage. Gordon and Crowley refer to this analysis as "focus[ing] on the source of the property disruption." 50 Ins. Counsel J. at 421. Gordon and Crowley refer to the ejusdem generis analysis as "dissect[ing] the language of the policy." Id.

As a result of these two analyses, the "trend across the country [was] to find coverage . . . regardless of policy exclusions." Id. at 425. "[F]aced with a financial drain neither accounted for through premium payments and reserves, nor even anticipated, [insurance companies felt] the earth slipping out from beneath their underpinnings just as surely

as did their insured homeowners." Id. State Farm countered by redrafting the language of its policies. As noted by Michael Bragg in an article entitled Concurrent Causation and the Art of Policy Drafting: New Perils for Property Insurers, a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum,

The traditional response of insurers upon discovering that their contract language is not being interpreted by the courts as the drafters intended is to rewrite the language. In fact this alternative is often judicially mandated. Courts have told the insurance industry countless times that insuring agreements will be interpreted broadly and exclusions narrowly. If the insurer desires to exclude some event it must say so clearly and unequivocally.

Forum, Tort and Insurance Practice Section, ABA, Vol. 20, No. 3, 385, 391 (Spring 1985). (The Supreme Court of California recently cited the Bragg article with approval in a case which has not yet been published but was filed on March 30, 1989, Garvey v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, (S.F. 25060) Ct. App. A017878.)

As previously indicated, State Farm introduced its new policy language in 1983. Although the lead-in clause has been subject to close scrutiny, 50 Ins. Counsel J. at 426, it has been upheld by every court that has considered it, as discussed infra.

The difficulty of plaintiffs' argument is that plaintiffs fail to realize that the new policy language not only

eliminates the efficient cause analysis but also eliminates the ejusdem generis analysis. (Plaintiffs initially argued that the broken water main was the efficient cause of the loss and hence there was coverage. See letter from plaintiffs' counsel to defendant's counsel attached hereto in the addendum. However, plaintiffs later abandoned this theory in light of the new policy language.) Subclause a) of the lead-in clause eliminates the ejusdem generis analysis and subclauses b) and c) eliminate the efficient cause analysis. This was clearly the intent of State Farm. As Michael Bragg states in his article,

The new language establishes a purging effect by making the occurrence of any of these excluded events an absolute prohibition to a finding of coverage. Thus, once a loss occurs which would not have happened in the absence of an excluded event, there is no coverage. The policy states that this is so "regardless of: a) the cause of the excluded event . . . ."

20 Forum, Tort and Insurance Practice Section, at 393-94.

As indicated above, every court that has had occasion to interpret the lead-in clause has found it to be valid and enforceable. In fact, the very courts which began the trend of finding coverage for the insured in the face of the most carefully wrought earth movement exclusions (the California courts) have honored the redrafted policy language. For example, in Milliken v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Insurance



Company, No. 86-1284-E, Memorandum Decision (S.D. Cal., March 1987), a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum, the court without hesitation applied the redrafted earth movement exclusion to the "settlement of . . . fill soils" and the "consolidation of [a] utility trench." Id. at 16. The court stated, "Any loss which would not have resulted but for earth movement is excluded, regardless of . . . the cause of the movement." Id. (emphasis in original). In Bayless v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Company, No. WEC 87135 (Los Angeles County, Cal. Super. Ct., Dec. 1986), although summary judgment was not granted because of the existence of a triable issue of fact, the court adjudicated the following issues as being without substantial controversy:

1. The applicable insurance policy excludes coverage for earth movement;
2. Coverage is excluded under the policy regardless of the cause of the earth movement;
3. Coverage is excluded under the policy regardless of whether other causes acted concurrently or in any sequence with earth movement to cause the loss.

See Page 2 of the Order, a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum (emphasis added).

Similarly, in Turrill v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Insurance Company, No. WEC 104 457 (Los Angeles County, Cal. Super. Ct., May 1987), the court adjudicated the same issues

as being without substantial controversy and therefore "deemed established." See Pages 1-3 of the Order, a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum.

The only two published decisions also hold that the lead-in clause is valid and enforceable. In State Farm Fire and Cas. Co. v. Martin, 668 F. Supp. 1379 (C.D. Cal. 1987), a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum, the court held that the policy language was "explicit as to exclusions [and] unambiguous." Id. at 1382. The court further held that "State Farm had an absolute right to limit the coverage." Id. at 1383. (The Martin case was affirmed by the Ninth Circuit on April 10, 1989, the court stating as follows: "[T]he policy exclusions are unambiguous . . . An insurance company has the right to limit the coverage in a policy it issues." A copy of the case is attached hereto in the addendum.) In State Farm Fire and Cas. Co. v. Paulson, 756 P.2d 764 (Wyo. 1988), a copy of which is attached hereto in the addendum, the court said that the lead-in clause was "not ambiguous. It is plain and clear." Id. at 766. The court then concluded its opinion by stating:

[A] court [is restrained] from liberally and unreasonably construing an insurance contract to permit a strained or unnatural interpretation in order to find coverage for innocent victims who are subjects of enormous sympathy. Otherwise, the

effect would be to bind an insurer to a risk that was not contemplated and for which it was not paid.

Id. at 772; see also the companion case to Paulson, State Farm Fire and Cas. Co. v. Bowen, 756 P.2d 773 (Wyo. 1988), where the court reached the same conclusion, a copy of which is also attached hereto in the addendum.

All of the cases cited by plaintiffs are not on point because they do not deal with the new lead-in language contained in State Farm's policies. Nor do the cases deal with earth movement exclusions containing the phrase "whether combined with water or not" following the words "earth movement." State Farm's policy states that earth movement is excluded "whether combined with water or not." See page 6 of the policy. This phrase, together with the lead-in clause, makes it clear that earth movement is excluded even if it is caused by a broken water pipe.

Earth movement is excluded regardless of its cause. The new policy language eliminates the ejusdem generis analysis. Moreover, plaintiffs' own cases seem to cast doubt on whether the ejusdem generis analysis is appropriate in this case. One provision of Jones v. St. Paul Ins. Co., 725 S.W.2d 291 (Tex. App. 1986) which plaintiffs fail to cite is as follows:

We initially address appellant's contention that the doctrine of ejusdem generis limits the scope of the term "earth movement." Under that doctrine, where

words of a specific and particular meaning are followed by general words, the general words are construed to mean only the class or category framed by the specific words. In the exclusion before us, the opposite construction is used. The general words, earth movement, do not follow the specific words, but precede them. The doctrine of ejusdem generis does not apply in such a case.

Id. at 292. Similarly, because the general words "earth movement" in State Farm's policies precede the specific words, the doctrine of ejusdem generis does not apply in this case. Ejusdem generis only applies when a general term follows (as opposed to precedes) an enumeration of specific words. In fact, Black's Law Dictionary 464 (5th ed. 1979) defines ejusdem generis as follows:

[T]he "ejusdem generis rule" is, that where general words follow an enumeration of persons or things, by words of a particular and specific meaning, such general words are not to be construed in their widest extent, but are to be held as applying only to persons or things of the same general kind or class as those specifically mentioned.

(Emphasis added.) Plaintiffs have misapplied the ejusdem generis doctrine. Furthermore, ejusdem generis is a rule of construction, and rules of construction do not need to be resorted to if the policy is clear and unambiguous. See 2 Couch on Insurance §§ 15:69, 15:70 (2d ed. 1984) ("When the contract is clear, precise, and unambiguous . . . there is no proper scope for a resort to rules of construction.") Since every court that has considered the new policy language has

found it to be clear and unambiguous, ejusdem generis does not apply in this case.

## II.

The phrase "earth movement" is not ambiguous, especially in light of the lead-in clause.

In Lee v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance, CCH 1988 Fire and Casualty Cases 1806 (Tenn. App. 1988) the court considered the definitions of "earth" and "movement" separately and concluded that the phrase "earth movement" applied to "any change of place, position or posture of the soil." Id. at 1808. In Lee a sewer pipe broke beneath plaintiff's home, saturating the soil, and causing the foundation to shift. The policy provided as follows:

The Company shall not be liable for loss:

. . . . .

7. due to any and all settling, shrinking, cracking, bulging or expansion of driveways, sidewalks, swimming pools, pavements, foundations, walls, floors, roofs or ceilings;

. . . . .

12. caused by, resulting from, contributed to, or aggravated by any of the following;

(a) earth movement, including but not limited to earthquake, landslide, mudflow, earth sinking, earth rising or shifting;

. . . . .

2. The following is added to the EXCLUSIONS section:

This policy does not insure under Section I for loss caused directly or indirectly by any of the following exclusions in this policy. Such loss is excluded regardless of any other cause or event contributing concurrently or in any sequence to the loss.

. . . . .

c. Earth movement;

. . . . .

Id. at 1806. The court held that earth movement, as commonly understood, had occurred in the case and that the loss was therefore excluded:

The words, "earth movement" mean:

differential movement of the earth's crust; elevation or subsidence of land.

Webster's Third New International Dictionary Unabridged.

Taken separately, the meaning of the word, "earth" includes:

fragmental material composing part of the surface of the globe; soil, ground, usually distinguished from bed rock.

Ibid.

The word, "movement" means:

The action or process of moving, change of place or position or posture.

Ibid.

It thus appears that, taken together or separately, the words, earth movement, mean any change of place, position or posture of the soil.

Id. at 1808. The court specifically rejected plaintiff's interpretation of the earth movement exclusion as being limited to natural phenomena. Id. at 1807. A copy of the case is attached hereto in the addendum.

Moreover, an insurance policy should be construed as a whole. Thus, the phrase "earth movement" cannot be interpreted in isolation of the lead-in clause. The lead-in clause specifically states that earth movement is excluded regardless of its cause: "The Company does not insure for such loss regardless of: a) the cause of the excluded event [earth movement] . . . ." Therefore, it would be unreasonable for a layperson to conclude that earth movement meant only earth movement caused by an act of God. What caused the earth movement is irrelevant. The lead-in clause could not make this any clearer.

### III.

#### The policy is not duplicative.

Plaintiffs argue that "earth movement" must not encompass settling because there is a separate exclusion for settling.

However, that exclusion (exclusion 1.e.) does not apply in cases where there are multiple causes as in the case at bar. In multiple cause cases, exclusion 3. applies. This was noted by Mr. David Randel, fire claim superintendent for State Farm, in his deposition.

Q I take it there came a point at which you concluded that Exclusion . . . E did not apply?

A That's correct.

Q At what point was that?

A . . . I would guess that probably from the beginning I would have been referring to Exclusion 3 Subsection B.

Q That's [the] earth movement clause?

A Correct. . . . I'm familiar enough with the policy language that I realized that with the broken pipe that we would have to be relying on that exclusion rather than the settling and shrinking. Because we had a potential concurrent cause situation.

Deposition of David Randel, page 28, lines 4-19.

Furthermore, exclusion 1.e. only applies to "gradual sinking," as noted in the Holy Angels Academy case cited by plaintiffs. 487 N.Y.S.2d at 1007. Gradual sinking did not occur in this case. The soil collapsed. The apartments were built upon sand, silt, and clay -- collapsible soils. When the underground water main broke, the soils lost their weight-bearing capacity and collapsed. Deposition of Ralph E.



Watson, page 20, line 16; page 21, line 22; page 57, line 8; exhibit 1, appendix A, page 3; see also the letter from plaintiffs' counsel to defendant's counsel, attached hereto in the addendum, stating as follows: "We have reason to believe that the soil, when saturated with water, does not actually sink or settle. Rather, it loses its weight-bearing ability. This allows the foundation to sink or shift."

As noted by David Randel, anytime there are multiple causes, exclusion 3. applies and not exclusion 1.e. Therefore, the policy is not duplicative.